### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2010-CA-00045

#### **CHARLES HUBBARD**

#### VERSUS

# **DELTA SANITATION OF MISSISSIPPI, L.L.C.**

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Judge of this Court may evaluate possible disgualifications or recusal.

Charles Hubbard

James K. Wetzel, Esquire

Delta Sanitation of Mississippi, L.L.C.

Joshua W. Danos, Esquire

Honorable Lawrence Bourgeois

Counsel for Appellant

Appellee

Counsel for Appellee

Circuit Court Judge

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion in failing to impose an additur, pursuant to Mississippi Code §11-1-55; as the Jury verdict in the amount of Three Thousand Dollars (\$3,000.00) was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence.
- II. The Circuit Court erred in a pre-trial ruling which denied the Plaintiff the fundamental right to present medical evidence of his prior neurological condition (multiple sclerosis); thus, denying the Plaintiff a fair and impartial trial.
- III. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law by entry of an Order awarding the Defendant Seven Thousand Twelve Dollars and 03/100 (\$7,012.03) as costs, pursuant to Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION

This is an appeal from an adverse Jury verdict which has its genesis in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District. The Plaintiff, Charles Hubbard, hereinafter referred to as "HUBBARD", filed this cause of action on or about May 5, 2008 alleging that on December 1, 2006 at approximately 10:38 a.m., HUBBARD, traveling eastbound on Highway 90 in Harrison County, Mississippi, while stopped at the intersection of Highway 90 and Cowan Road, waiting for traffic to turn northbound on Cowan Road, was rearended by Delta Sanitation of Mississippi, L.L.C.'s, employee, hereinafter referred to as "DELTA". DELTA's employee was operating a vehicle weighing approximately 70-80,000.00 pounds. As a result of this incident HUBBARD incurred two herniated discs in the cervical (neck) area of his spine, which resulted in surgery carried out by his Neurosurgeon, Dr. Eric Graham, Orthopedic Surgeon, on April 25, 2008.

After commencing this cause of action, discovery ensued and the matter came on for trial on August 17-18, 2009 with the Honorable Lawrence Bourgeois, Jr., presiding. The Jury returned a verdict (10-2) on August 18, 2009 finding for HUBBARD as follows:

"We, the Jury, find for the Plaintiff, Charles Hubbard, against the Defendant, Delta Sanitation of Mississippi, L.L.C., and assess his damages in the amount of \$3,000.00."

HUBBARD, through counsel, filed a timely Motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or alternatively, a motion for new trial pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and requested an additur pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated §11-1-55.

DELTA filed a response to Plaintiff's Motion and filed a separate Motion for Cost and for Stay of Execution of the Judgment. Oral arguments were heard by the Circuit Court Judge on December 10, 2009 and the Circuit Court Judge entered an Order overruling the Plaintiff's Motion for a new trial, or alternatively, for an additur. The Circuit Court Judge also entered a separate Order on December 10, 2009 finding that pursuant to Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure that the Defendant had made an offer of judgment more than fifteen days prior to trial in the amount of Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00), which the Plaintiff refused. Pursuant to said rule the Circuit Court Judge found that the DELTA incurred costs totaling Seven Thousand Twelve Dollars and 03/100 (\$7,012.03) and ordered that HUBARRD pay to DELTA Four Thousand Twelve Dollars and 03/100 (\$4,012.03) which reflected the cost incurred, less the Jury verdict.

HUBBARD filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court alleging three separate issues which individually and collectively denied Plaintiff a fair trial. HUBBARD submits to this Honorable Court that he should be entitled to reversal of the lower Court Judgment in the amount of Three Thousand Dollars and 00/100 (\$3,000.00), an additur granted or remanded for a new trial on damages only. HUBBARD also submits to this Honorable Court that there should be a reversal of that certain Order granting DELTA's costs totaling Seven Thousand Twelve Dollars and 03/100 (\$7,012.03).

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On December 1, 2006, HUBBARD, age 50, was employed as a Senior Chemist with the Southern Company for 26<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> years (P. 59-60). Prior to 2006 the only significant medical condition suffered by HUBBARD was in 2004 when he had surgery on both his left and right knees, had two tears in his rotator cuff in his right shoulder, which required surgery in 2004 (P. 62). Also in 2004, HUBBARD testified that he had seen Dr. Eric Graham, his Orthopedic Surgeon, for a bulging disc in his lower back for which he received lumbar epidural steroidal injection (P. 62, 63). HUBBARD testified that he never missed any appreciable work at all for the condition in his lower back and did not limit any of his social or normal engagements of his life (P. 63). HUBBARD testified that on or about April 17, 2006, before the vehicular collision of December 1, 2006, he began seeing Dr. Terry Millette, Neurologist, for neuropathic pain in his left arm and did not remember any type of neck injury prior to December 1, 2006 (P 64, 65). HUBBARD testified that he saw Dr. Donnis Harrison, Orthopedic Surgeon, in October of 2006 for left arm numbness and tingling and the he was referred to Dr. Harrison by Dr. Terry Millette, his Neurologist, not for anything that was due to his neck but for his unrelated neurological condition known as "Multiple Sclerosis" (P. 65, 66).

HUBBARD testified that on the morning of December 1, 2006 he never had any neck related complaints that morning and that he was scheduled to report to the Jack Watson plant where he was working for the Southern Company and that he left his home on Kelly Avenue at approximately 10:20 a.m. and drove down Highway 90 to Cowan-Lorraine Road, where the plant was located (P. 67). HUBBARD testified that the weather was completely clear, blue skies and that when he got to the intersection of Highway 90 and Lorraine Road he entered a turning lane that had a red light where he had to come to a complete stop before he could proceed north onto Cowan-Lorraine Road (P. 67, 68). HUBBARD testified that he was at a complete stop for 5-10 seconds when the dump truck operated by DELTA's driver hit him from behind (P. 69). HUBBARD testified that he was driving a 2005 Dodge Ram quad cab truck, which is a heavy duty truck on a heavy duty frame, with 20" tires on it so it sat a little bit higher than a regular truck would. HUBBARD further testified that his truck had a heavy duty bumper and the trailer hitch was attached and the trailer assembly was attached directly to the frame itself and slightly below the bumper (P. 70). HUBBARD testified he did not see the vehicle coming prior to impact and did not have any knowledge whatsoever he was about to be impacted by DELTA's dump truck. HUBBARD described that at the time of impact he had both hands on the steering wheel with his foot on the brake and when the impact occurred it pushed him forward, close to a length of his vehicle, and that it pushed him beyond the white line where he had stopped (P. 71).

HUBBARD further testified that after the impact he looked in his rear-view mirror and DELTA's truck was still rolling and then it stopped (P. 72). HUBBARD testified that according to the Incident Report filed by the Gulfport Police Department that the vehicle operated by DELTA's employee was a 2006 Mac truck, that it was a larger size dump truck, more of a double size instead of a regular size dump truck, and that in his opinion was somewhere around 16-17 ton dump truck which was loaded with concrete slabs which would have made the load heavier than other debris. It was HUBBARD's opinion that this was somewhere around a 17 yard container on the back of the truck (P. 75).

HUBBARD described to the Jury the damage to the back of his bumper from the photographs introduced into evidence and that you could see the imprint of the bolts that held the bumper onto the dump truck, making a stamped indentation directly into his bumper (P. 77).

i

HUBBARD testified that no repairs had been performed to his truck and that the damage to his truck still existed as it did on December 1, 2006.

HUBBARD testified that he felt his body being pushed forward and that his body went back against the seat that he was occupying (P. 79). HUBBARD testified that he had conversations with the driver and the driver mentioned to him that he could not stop in time. When HUBBARD was questioned by the Officer, Kevin Jackson, he stated that he really did not have any pain but felt like he had a dull ache in the back of his neck and lower back and he remained at the scene of the accident for about 20 minutes (P. 82) HUBBARD testified that he arrived at his employment at approximately 11:00 and that he was still suffering with a dull ache in his neck and back and that it did not get worse until the next two-three days, particularly the third day when he had a linear progression of pain in both areas (P. 82).

HUBBARD testified that he did not consider going to the emergency room as he did not think it was anything life threatening and when he got to his place of employment he called and made an appointment with his general physician, Dr. Paul Matherne (P. 83).

HUBBARD testified that he saw Dr. Paul Matherne on December 22, 2006, which was the first appointment he could get, and he remembered telling his doctor that his neck was bothering him as well as his low back. HUBBARD testified that Dr. Matherne had some x-rays taken and after one or two visits recommended that he be evaluated by Dr. Eric Graham, Orthopedic Surgeon (P. 83). HUBBARD testified that he set-up an appointment with Dr. Graham and was seen the first part of February, 2007. By the time HUBBARD saw Dr. Graham the pain in his neck and back had progressed and got worse and worse each day. HUBBARD described the pain as radiating from his neck down his arm and into his hands (P. 85). HUBBARD testified that as he continued under Dr. Graham's care he began having weakness in his arms, actually losing strength in his arms and that is when Dr. Graham recommended surgery (P. 85, 86).

HUBBARD further testified that in the calendar year 2006, prior to December 1, 2006 collision, he never had any radicular pain or weakness and had no similar symptoms of that sort prior to December 1, 2006 (P. 87). HUBBARD described the surgery performed by Dr. Graham where two discs had to be removed from his neck (P. 87, 88). As a result of the incision on the right side of his neck he had a permanent scar from the surgery (P. 88). HUBBARD testified that he was finally released from Dr. Graham on July 1, 2008 (P. 89, 90).

HUBBARD testified as to the affects that the surgery had on his physical activities and his ability to return back to physical activities (P. 91, 92, 93). HUBBARD testified that the total medical bills incurred from the surgery performed by Dr. Eric Graham and related treatment that he had leading up to and after his surgery was \$138,294.15 (P. 98) and that he also had out-ofpocket expenses for mileage of \$163.18 (P. 99) and had loss wages as a result of his injury and subsequent surgery in the amount of \$14,074.48 (P. 105).

HUBBARD also testified that he had to have his vehicle repaired and the total amount of damages, which consisted of using after-market parts were \$645.21 (P. 105, 106).

Dr. Eric Graham, Orthopedic Surgeon, testified by video deposition (P. 55). Dr. Graham testified he first began treating HUBBARD in July, 2004 when he was sent to him by a colleague for evaluation of his <u>back</u> and <u>legs</u> (Depo. P. 9). Dr. Graham testified that the diagnosis at that time in 2004 was spondylolisthesis at L4/5 (low back), which basically means an unstable segment (Depo. P. 9). Dr. Graham explained spondylolisthesis is a degenerative condition created by arthritis in which the spine begins to slip off of itself in such a fashion. As a result of this condition nerve roots that come out of these corners wind-up getting pinched between the

bone and the disc as it slides forward (Depo. P. 9). Dr. Graham testified that he prescribed physical therapy and a trial of epidurals and that HUBBARD had carried out these procedures for several years and never returned to the office to him pertaining to his low back until February, 2007 (Depo. P. 10). Dr. Graham testified that when HUBBARD returned in February, 2007 that HUBBARD had given a history that he had been hit behind from a dump truck in December, 2006. HUBBARD's complaints were mainly worsening back and leg pain as well as neck and arm pain (Depo. P. 10). Dr. Graham testified that Dr. Paul Matherne, his internist, had put him through physical therapy, which failed, and he was referred by Dr. Matherne for evaluation. Dr. Graham also testified that back in 2004, when he treated HUBBARD for his low back, there were never any neck complaints voiced at that time but when he saw him in February, 2007 that HUBBARD perfectly described the radiculopathy in his neck and arm (Depo. P. 10). The radiculopathy that HUBBARD described was a pain that travels down the arm in a certain fashion that follows a dermatome and in this case it was following the C6 dermatome. Dr. Graham testified that HUBBARD had an MRI done and when he saw him back in March, 2007 the MRI showed a left sided disc complex at C4/5 and C5/6 (Depo. P. 11). That he had a herniation of those discs that were impinging upon the nerves as it exits the spinal canal and that was causing the pain sensation or radiation into his upper extremities (Depo. P. 12). Dr. Graham testified that he discussed with HUBBARD conservative measure and continuing the epidurals, HUBBARD had also recently been diagnosed with multiple sclerosis and he advised HUBBARD that he needed to clear surgery with Dr. Millette, his Neurologist (Depo. P. 12). Dr. Graham testified that he spoke directly with Dr. Millette on April 24, 2008 and Dr. Millette agreed that HUBBARD was neurologically acceptable for surgery and by March, 2008 HUBBARD's neck and arm pain had worsened and had what was called "spurling sign" which is like when you are looking down at the affected arm you lean on your head back you feel a shooting pain going down the arm and it is a primary reason to recommend surgery (Depo. P. 13). Dr. Graham testified that HUBBARD also began having motor deficits where he began to have weakness to wrist extension and bicep function and that he had the classic signs of a disc injury which you would expect by "text book", and in April, 2008 recommended surgery because he had the weakness and that the longer you live with the pressure sitting on the motor nerve the more likely it is to become a permanent fixture (Depo. P. 14). HUBBARD's surgery was carrier out on April 28, 2008 at two levels, C4/5 and C5/6, and had an anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (Depo. P. 15).

Dr. Graham testified that HUBBARD, after surgery, was 95% better than before the surgery after doing additional physical therapy and other conservative measures and continued to follow-up and on October 13, 2008 placed HUBBARD at maximum medical improvement (Depo. P. 21). Dr. Graham testified that based upon the two level anterior cervical discectomy and fusion he had a 26% medical impairment to the body as a whole and felt that HUBBARD could return back to work as a Senior Chemist with the Southern Company (Depo. P. 21).

The following question was asked of Dr. Graham regarding medical causation (Depo. P. 27):

BY MR. WETZEL:

Q. I meant to ask you one last question, Doctor. Based upon your history that you received from Mr. Hubbard relative to the December 2006 vehicular collision, based upon your - your personal evaluation of him, the radiographic studies and the resulting surgery that you performed, as well as the permanent injury that he has, do you have an opinion based upon reasonable medical probabilities as to whether or not the vehicular collision that he alluded to that happened in December of '06 was precipitating or contributing cause for the injury and resulting surgery?

A. Yes. I do.

HUBBARD called, as an additional witness, Denise Hubbard, who was the wife of HUBBARD who testified as to the injuries suffered by her husband what affects it had on his life style.

HUBBARD rested after having called three witnesses and the defense presented its case with two witnesses, Lloyd David Walker, driver of DELTA's vehicle, and Dr. Lennon Bowen, a Neurologist. Lloyd Walker testified that he was a roll-off driver in December, 2006 and testified that he and HUBBARD were both in the turning lane. That the light turned green and that the green light was a solid green, not a protected green arrow, so both proceeded forward. Lloyd Walker testified that HUBBARD stopped and that he (Walker) did not stop quick enough and rear-ended HUBBARD's vehicle (P. 188, 189). Lloyd Walker further testified that his vehicle struck HUBBARD's vehicle at approximately 5 m.p.h. range. Walter testified he remembered seeing a dent in HUBBARD's bumper and that DELTA's bumper was kind of a cowcatcher type and it looked actually like a bolt probably hit HUBBARD's bumper and made an indentation (P. 188, 189). Mr. Walker further testified that HUBBARD did not claim any injury at the time of the accident (P. 190). On cross-examination of Mr. Walker by HUBBARD's counsel herein, Mr. Walker testified that he had been working approximately a year prior to the December, 2006 incident with DELTA and that DELTA primarily removed construction debris. Mr. Walker testified that the vehicle he was operating was a 2006 Mac truck and that the container located on the bed of the tractor trailer was a roll-off 20 yard container and that the container weighed approximately 24-26,000 pounds (P. 193). Mr. Walker testified that he was working in east

Gulfport, where he picked up a load in that area and was heading to Cowan-Lorraine Road. Mr. Walker was loading dirt, concrete and miscellaneous wood (P. 194). Mr. Walker testified that that cattle guard type bumper that was affixed to the Mac truck was to protect the radiator and the housing of the engine (P. 198). Mr. Walker testified that his bumper was very stout and that it was bolted on and probably had three bolts on each side to bolt it to the steel bumper itself (P. 199). Mr. Walker further testified that this particular vehicle had a very stout steel bumper in front of it (P. 199).

Mr. Walker testified that when he hit HUBBARD's vehicle he did not know how far he may have pushed HUBBARD's vehicle but did agree that HUBBARD's vehicle was pushed from the point of the original impact (P. 200). Mr. Walker further testified that HUBBARD was at a complete stop when he struck the back of HUBBARD's vehicle (P. 200). Mr. Walker further testified that he called his supervisor, Bill MacWright, immediately who came to the scene and took photographs of the front of the Mac truck.

The only additional witness called by DELTA was Dr. Lennon Bowen, a Neurologist, who was retained by DELTA to review the records of the HUBBARD and give testimony in this case. Dr. Bowen testified that after looking at the imaging and medical records of HUBBARD, it was his opinion that it looked like HUBBARD had a slow progressive degenerative condition overall for several years and his imaging was fairly consistent with a normal degenerative process of the spine (P. 215). Dr. Bowen testified that normal in a sense is that once you develop some degeneration or age related changes or wear and tear, this is just one of the natural courses that would lead to some of the <u>symptoms</u> that HUBBARD complained of (P. 220). Dr. Bowen testified that HUBBARD complained of numbness radiating down the left arm for years and that he developed some weakness noted on the records that fit with the C6 nerve distribution to the injury and that in his opinion that it was obvious looking through the records and image studies that HUBBARD's alleged injuries in the matter pre-existed the December 1, 2006 accident (P. 224). <u>At no time did Dr. Bowen testify as to what required the need for surgery</u>. On cross-examination, Dr. Bowen admitted that in the prior treatment that HUBBARD had by Dr. Lance Johansen prior to the wreck, it was not to diagnose a neck injury. Also, HUBBARD's referral to Dr. Donnis Harrison was not for a neck injury as well. Dr. Bowen agreed that both doctors did not diagnose a neck injury (P. 263, 264). Dr. Bowen also agreed that the numbness and tingling that was referred to in Dr. Johansen's notes and Dr. Millette's notes prior to the vehicular collision of December 2, 2006 were directly attributable to his neurological disorder (multiple sclerosis) that was unrelated to his neck condition (P. 264).

#### ARGUMENT

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