# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00045

**CHARLES HUBBARD** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

DELTA SANITATION OF MISSISSIPPI, LLC

**APPELLEE** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT NO. A2401-08-140

# **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE:

Joshua W. Danos, MSB #

Robert W. Wilkinson, MSB

DOGAN, WILKINSON, KINARD

**SMITH & EDWARDS** 

Pascagoula Office of DOGAN & WILKINSON, PLLC

734 Delmas Avenue

Post Office Box 1618

Pascagoula, MS 39568-1618

Telephone: (228) 762-2272

Facsimile: (228) 762-4145

jdanos@doganwilkinson.com

rwilkinson@doganwilkinson.com

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

#### The Court:

Mr. Wetzel, I made this ruling yesterday. That should have been done last night.

#### Mr. Wetzel:

I know, but we just talked about that we both agreed to let it back in, Judge. Otherwise, I would have done that at lunchtime with the court reporter.

#### The Court:

It should have been done last night, because the ruling last night was it wasn't coming, and it was agreed.

#### Mr. Wetzel:

So can we have a ten-minute break after the opening arguments?

#### The Court:

Do it right now, because once we get started we're going. We're in recess.

See TT, pgs. 24-25, 33-37.

The Court can plainly see, the Motion to Exclude evidence of MS was that of the Plaintiff. It appears elementary, but once a party stipulates to admission or exclusion of evidence, "that party cannot later complain about ... [any] consequential prejudicial effect." *City of Natchez v. Jackson*, 941 So.2d 865, 872 (Miss.App. 2006). As such, Plaintiff has waived the ability to now challenge the ruling granting his own motion, whether he later attempted to withdraw the motion or not. The trial court, having granted Plaintiff's motion on this matter allowed voir dire to go forward under the stipulation that MS would not be mentioned. Only after voir dire was complete did counsel for Plaintiff attempt to withdraw his motion. It was too late at this juncture due to the reasons cited in the above excerpts. In any event, because the complained-of ruling was made in granting Plaintiff's

own motion, he has waived the right to now contest any alleged harm. Id.

# ii. Plaintiff Has Waived the Opportunity to Challenge This Ruling As He Did Not Raise these Arguments at Trial

In his Appellate Brief, Plaintiff states he was prejudiced by the exclusion of evidence that he suffered from MS because he "was limited in being able to explain ... the symptomology that he had prior to the vehicular collision in his shoulder." He claims it was "almost impossible ... to explain ... [that] the symptomology ... in the medical records introduced into evidence was based upon multiple sclerosis and not radicular pain coming from a herniated disc." At trial, the sole prejudice cited by Plaintiff as a result of excluding evidence of MS was that redacting portions of Dr. Graham's deposition would "disrupt the whole flow" of his expert's video testimony. *See TT, pg.* 24. He did not raise the above objections at trial, and as such should be prohibited from doing so at this point. In other words, he waived the ability to challenge the Court granting his own motion by failing to make these objections at trial.

## iii. A Rose By Any Other Name

Out an abundance of caution, if the Court allows Plaintiff's arguments to go forth despite his failure to raise them at trial, Defendant will address them herein. "For a case to be reversed on the admission or exclusion of evidence, it must result in prejudice and harm or adversely effect a substantial right of the party." *Crane Co. v. Kitzinger*, 860 So.2d 1196, 1199 (Miss. 2003). In essence, on appeal, Plaintiff complains the exclusion of evidence upon his own motion was reversible error as it did not allow him to explain to the jury certain symptoms he claims were related to MS. If error is found in the trial court's exclusion of evidence of MS, such error is undoubtedly

## harmless.5

Instead of using the term "MS" or "multiple sclerosis," Plaintiff and his counsel instead referred to his disease as the "unrelated neurological disorder." In fact, a cursory review of the trial transcript yields dozens of references to this "other neurological disorder." Surely there can be no reversible harm found in preventing mention of MS when one can merely substitute a similar term. Plaintiff now claims he was hamstrung (so much so that reversible error occurred) in explaining that his MS was responsible for several symptoms found in the medical records, however the transcript reveals otherwise:

#### Mr. Wetzel:

- Q. Okay. Now let's move forward to early part of 2006. I think you went a couple of years there no problem. Then you started having an **unrelated neurological problem**, I believe, in the latter part of '03, the first part of I'm sorry. The latter part of '05, first part of '06. Would that be correct? I think right before Katrina.
- A. Are you referring to left shoulder?
- Q. No. I'm talking about your unrelated neurological condition. You started seeing Dr. Millette, I believe, in April '05 right before Katrina.
- A. Let me think. No, sir. I was having **this neurological problem** in '05 where I was collapsing. I was sent to the hospital four or five times by ambulance. They couldn't figure it out until the last time. And the doctor took an MRI, and he realized kind of.
- Q. A brain MRI?
- A. Yes, sir, brain MRI. I don't remember what his statement was, but I was referred to Dr. Millette.

Additionally, as mentioned previously, due to technical difficulties, during the jury's viewing of the video deposition of Dr. Eric Graham, the jury was allowed to hear Dr. Graham mention that Plaintiff suffered from multiple sclerosis. As the testimony was not transcribed by the trial court reporter, and pursuant to the presumption that this Court will view the transcript of Dr. Graham in its entirety, it is Defendant's position that multiple sclerosis was indeed presented to the jury for consideration. As such, any error in excluding evidence of MS is harmless.

- Q. When do you remember seeing Dr. Millette for the first time for this neurological condition which he treats you, according to your notes?
- A. My records, the first information I have from Dr. Millette is where Dr. Rickey Chance had made some comments about the first brain MRI, and he, you know, made notes of what he thought, and he was the one that referred me to Dr. Millette. The next paperwork I have is from 3/30/06. So I'm assuming that that's about when I first saw - if you give me just a second I just want to make sure.
- Q. Okay.
- A. This must have been the first time I saw Millette is around 3/30/06, because he made the preliminary diagnosis.
- Q. Okay. And then I think on the next visit would have been April or May of '06 is when he, after he did a brain MRI, he concluded that you were suffering with a **neurological disorder**; is that correct, sir?
- A. Yes, sir. Went back to him on 4/18 of '06.
- Q. All right.
- A. I'm sorry. This 4/18/06 is a cervical spine MRI without and with contrast. So I don't know. I'm assuming this MRI was on 4/18/06. I'm not sure what the date I went back to him.
- Q. Let me just make sure we got this clear for the jury. Dr. Millette, in his attempt to diagnose your neurological condition, did a brain MRI?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did a neck MRI?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And after doing those two studies, did he conclude and give you a working final diagnosis that you had a neurological condition of your brain?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Now, that was in April of '06, correct, approximately?
- A. Yes, sir.

- Q. You came under his care, and he started treating you with a prescription medication?
- A. A couple of prescription medications.
- Q. He still treats you to today with prescription medication?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. For that **same neurological condition** that he diagnosed in March and April of '06?
- A. Yes, sir. It's an infusion, but I guess it's considered some type of medication.
- Q. We're not going to get into what it is or anything of that nature. Now, let's move forward from April of '06. In April of '06, after that he sent you, Dr. Millette sent you to Dr. Lance Johansen, who's an orthopedic surgeon?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Charles, before the break, we were going into making sure the jury understood, in April, March, April, you were diagnosed with your neurological condition. And Dr. Millette has been your neurologist up until today, we stand in this courtroom today?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Now, Dr. Millette, did he refer you to Dr. Lance Johansen, who is an orthopedist, general orthopedist?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Would you tell the jury your understanding of why he sent you to Dr. Johansen, please.
- A. If I can read part of this as part of my answer. He sent me there to rule out any other things that, you know, could possibly be. He stated, Dr. Millette stated on here on this form, it says, patient was diagnosed with the unrelated condition by Dr. Millette, and he says, on problems are again related to the unrelated medical condition that he has diagnosed.
- Q. When you say unrelated, you're talking about the neurological condition?

|      | 7    | •    |
|------|------|------|
| A. ` | Yes, | SIĽ. |

- Q. You can say neurological. It will be fine.
- A. Okay. Neurological. It says, Dr. Millette says the arm problems are related to the neurological disease.
- Q. Now, Dr. Millette then was going to send you back again to Dr. Johansen because did the shoulder start getting worse?
- A. It was one of those things where it would come and go. So that's another reason why, you know, it was considered part of **that neurological disease** is because of relapses and remittence and all that. So he was going to send me back. I'm not sure if he wanted me to go to the other doctor. I know there were --
- Q. Can I stop you just a minute?
- A. Yes, sir
- Q. Go ahead.
- A. It says, seeing the fact that he does not have an infraspinatus tear or a suprascapular nerve lesion, in other words, compression of the suprascapular nerve, I feel that this has to be coming from his unrelated neurological condition that Dr. Millette is treating him.
- Q. So he concluded that condition you were having from the standpoint of the weakness in the back of the shoulder, the arm numbness and tingling, that you were having was coming from **your neurological disorder**?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. So to conclude and make sure the jury understands, during the period 2006 is when you were diagnosed with **your neurological disorder**, correct?
- A. That was in - I was diagnosed in April of 2006.
- Q. And after seeing two orthopedists evaluating your shoulder, they concluded

that was all part of your neurological condition?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. What medications do you take, are you presently taking or have been taking primarily since early 2006 for your neurological disorder?
- A. Can I say the name of the medication?
- Q. Let me just ask you this without going to the names. My question is real simple. Since you started taking these medications, does it affect your memory?
- A. The disease itself affects my memory.
- Q. So it's the disease itself?
- A. Yes, sir.

See TT, pgs. 162-172 (selected portions). Plaintiff was also successful in obtaining testimony from defense expert, Dr. Lennon Bowen regarding the existence and effect of this "other neurological disorder." This testimony was accurately outlined in Plaintiff's Appellate Brief. Additionally, in closing arguments, counsel for Plaintiff stated as follows:

#### Mr. Wetzel:

February 2006 my client was diagnosed by his neurologist, Dr. Terry Millette, with a neurological disorder. Dr. Terry Millette, because he had continued pain on his shoulder, back side of his shoulder on the posterior side, and numbness and tingling in his hand and arm, sent him to Dr. Lance Johansen to determine whether or not there was any shoulder injury. Dr. Johansen ruled out any shoulder injury.

Dr. Harrison, Dr. Johansen, Dr. Millette, three doctors said what this man was suffering with during the 2006 year was symptomology in the left arm coming from one thing, his neurological disorder, not a neck injury, not a preexisting neck injury.

See TT, pgs. 305-306.

Despite Plaintiff's allegations to the contrary, he was indeed permitted to attempt to "explain [that] ... the symptomology ... in the medical records introduced into evidence was based upon

multiple sclerosis and not radicular pain coming from a herniated disc." As such, any error found

in the exclusion of evidence based on Plaintiff's own motion is harmless and not a basis for reversal.

C. The Court Properly Awarded Defendant's Motion for Costs Pursuant to the Offer of Judgment

Plaintiff finally challenges the award of costs pursuant to the Offer of Judgment. He admits

the Offer was properly made, rejected by Plaintiff, and ultimately in excess of the verdict rendered.

What Plaintiff argues however, is the costs awarded by the trial court are not those available under

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 68. The costs sought and awarded were outlined as follows:

Expert Fees: \$4600.00

Copying/Printing Costs: \$1076.10

Trial Materials (demonstrative aids, technical support, etc.): \$1084.43

Court Reporter: \$251.50

Travel and Food: \$587.08

Total Expenses Incurred Post-Offer: \$7599.11

Plaintiff claims Defendant is not entitled to any such expenses, thus they will be addressed

respectively. It is worthy of note that Plaintiff failed to offer a written response to defendant's

Motion for Costs, therefore any objections responsive thereto occurred at the oral hearing.

i. Expert Fees

First, Plaintiff did not object to the inclusion of expert fees, thus he cannot now challenge

their imposition on appeal. At the hearing on this matter, counsel for Plaintiff objected to a great

many number of the costs outlined in the motion, however when detailing those costs he conceded

were allowable under the Rule, this exchange occurred:

Mr. Wetzel:

Filing fees, subpoena costs, any of those types of costs associated with the clerk's

office, no question about it.

The Court:

And the expert witness fees as well?

26

#### Mr. Wetzel:

And expert fees can be considered. That's discretionary.

See TT, pgs. 349-350. Plaintiff failed to challenge the award of expert fees and thus has waived any right he might have had to appeal this issue.

#### ii. All Other Costs Awarded

Plaintiff correctly points out that Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 68 closely tracks the language of its federal counterpart. In fact, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has acknowledged "Rule 68 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is patterned after Federal Rule 68." *Harbit v. Harbit*, 3 So.3d 156, ftn. 5 (Miss.App. 2009). As such, Mississippi courts can look to those costs awardable under the federal rule in determining whether appropriate in a state case. *See generally, Harbit* (Miss.App. 2009). As Mississippi law on the subject is scarce, a look at federal interpretation of Rule 68 appears justified.

"With the exception of routine overhead office expenses normally absorbed by the practicing attorney, all reasonable expenses incurred in case preparation, during the course of litigation or as an aspect of settlement of the case, may be taxed as costs." 21A Fed. Proc., L. Ed. § 51:41, Costs Payable When Judgment is Not More Favorable Than Rejected Offer (May 2010). Federal courts, ruling on costs available under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 68, have interpreted "costs" as including "trial exhibits," "photocopying," and "transcripts." See Agola v. Hagner, 678 F.Supp. 988 (E.D.N.Y. 1987), and Stokes v. City of Montgomery, 157 F.R.D. 514 (M.D.AL 1994). The only remaining items are "travel and food" which represent costs incurred at trial as a direct result of Plaintiff's rejection of the Offer of Judgment.

Given the above, the trial court rightfully granted Defendant's Motion for Costs pursuant to the Offer of Judgment. Defendant hereby moves that the award be affirmed in whole or in part as this Court deems proper.

#### V. CONCLUSION

There was substantial evidence offered at trial (via medical records and expert testimony) challenging causation which allowed the jury to return a verdict for less than the amount sought by Plaintiff. As such, the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and the trial court was justified in denying additur.

The evidence of multiple sclerosis was excluded on Plaintiff's own motion, therefore he has waived any right to appeal this issue. Furthermore, instead of using the term "multiple sclerosis" or "MS," Plaintiff was allowed to offer extensive evidence about the disease and its effects, instead referencing a "neurological disorder." Thus, no harm was visited by the exclusion and any error was harmless.

Finally, the costs awarded upon Defendant's Motion for Costs pursuant to the Offer of Judgment are proper. The issue of expert costs was not preserved for appeal, therefore Plaintiff cannot challenge the trial court's award of same. Additionally, Mississippi law, tracking federal law, allows for the award of the remaining costs granted by the trial court pursuant to Rule 68. For these reasons, Plaintiff's appeal should be denied and the jury's verdict and trial court rulings should be affirmed in whole.

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